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in maritime Spanish ; Carnadero Creek in Santa Clara County was
probably once the sijrht of a 'slauprhter place,' and Matanzas Creek
[Sonoma] was so named because there the annual killing of cattle for

the market took place. Cazadero [Sonoma] was California Spanish

for 'hunting place;' but the equally melodious name Atascadero

means 'miry place.' Rodeo has become an American word for an an-

nual cowboy show but originally it meant an enclosure where cattle

were exhibited for sale. Rodeo [Contra Costa] was named after such

an enclosure. Laguna, 'lake' and lagunita, 'little lake' are found in

a number of place names, as specific as well as generic terms. Lake

Lagunitas means literally 'little lakes lake.' Contra Costa was a name
applied by the Spanish residents of early San Francisco to the 'oppo-

site coast, ' that is, Marin County and the East Bay. Later it was
restricted to the latter and it really lost its appropriateness when
Alameda County was created. El Camino Real is usually translated

as 'the King's highway' but it actually means 'public highway' and
has no more relation to the Spanish king than the American adminis-

trative unit, "county," to an English count.

Mount Diablo is one of the most important and most interesting

names of the district around San Francisco Bay. It was applied by
American explorers in the 1840 's because they believed that monte
meant 'mountain.' Monte, however, is the Spanish term for 'thicket'

or 'woods,' and the name Monte Diablo was that of an Indian village

at the site of present-day Concord. According to the story, this Monte
Diablo was a willow thicket where in the early 1800 's a fight took

place. An Indian medicine man, dressed most fantasticallj^ appeared
from the thicket, and the Spanish soldiers, believing that the devil

himself had become an ally of the Indians, beat a hasty retreat.

Many descriptive Spanish adjectives have been preserved and
are still actively used as specific or generic place names in the bay

counties. Alta, 'high,' is probably the most common, followed by
nuevo, 'new,' honcla, 'deep,' calicnte, 'hot,' buena, 'good,' seco, 'dry,'

hedionda, 'fetid,' permanente, 'permanent,' gordo, 'large,' macho,

'cut-off.' Spanish adjectives of color still used are bianco, 'white,'

verde, 'green,' prieto, 'dark,' azul, 'blue.'

Finally, there are a number of Spanish names which were abbrevi-

ated after the American conquest and which in many cases become
meaningless, retaining, however, their pleasing sound. Cupertino

[Santa Clara] was name irter a creek, Arroyo de San Jose Cuper-

tino; Guadalupe River [Santa Clara] was Rio de Nuestra Senora

de Guadalupe, the patron saint of Catholic Mexico; Lake Merced
[San Francisco] was Laguna de Nuestra Senora de la Merced.

JIany of our interesting names which are neither native Indian

nor Spanish were brought from Mexico and have an Aztec root. The
name Tule, which is found in several geographic areas, is derived from

the Aztec name for plants with sword-like leaves like the cat-tail and
the bull-rush; Stockton was once called appropriately "Tulcburg "

Montezuma, the name of the Aztec chief at the time of the Spanish
conquest of Mexico, was adopted in 1827 as a new name for the prov-
ince of Alta California, and might have become the name of our S' ".te

if the Mexican government had confirmed the nauiL. Montezuma
Landing, Hills, and Island in Solano County preserve the memory
of Montezuma City, started in 1847 as one of the many Mormon settle-

ments in the State. Lake Temescal between Oakland and Berkeley
is so called because it was once the site of an Indian sweathouse
called temescal by the Mexicans. Milpitas is derived from the Mexican
word for ' truck garden, ' and Pinole from the Aztec name of a dish
of toasted grain prepared by the Indians of the district. Tomales
Bay and Mount Tamalpais were named for the Tamal Indians, who in

turn might have received their name from the Mexican tamal, origi-

nally a dish similar to the pinole. Coyote River in the Santa Clara Val-
ley and other coyote place names contain the Aztec root coyotl, ' prairie
wolf.

' Also of Aztec or at least of Mexican origin is the word tassajero,

'place where meat is cut in strips and hung in the sun to cure'; it is

still found in Tassajara Valley [Alameda, Contra Costa].

After the occupation by the United States the old names were
scrupulously kept. Here and there a Spanish name was garbled or
translated but the vast majority of all the old names which existed

in 1847 were left untouched. General Vallejo in 1849 was the chair-

man of the committee appointed by the legislature to establish the

names of the newly created counties. With one exception, Sutter, all

of the original 27 counties received Spanish or Irdian names.

Many Spanish names do not go back to early times but were
applied by Americans who wished to preserve the Spanish flavor of

California nomenclature: Manteca (butter), Avena (oats), Almonte
(by the woods), Milagro (miracle), Rio Nido (river and nest), Los
Altos (the heights). El Verano (summer) and the many combina-
tions with loma (hill), mar (ocean), del rcy (of the king!), camino
(road), vista (view)—not always grammatically correct, but satis-

fying the Californians' desire for romantic names.

Most of the important Spanish and Mexican pioneers who had
participated in building up the province have their names commemo-
rated in the geography of the bay region: Alvarado and Alviso;

Berryessa and Castro; Martinez, Miramontes, and Moraga; Paeheco,
Sunol, and Vallejo. Benicia bears one of the names of General Vallejo 's

wife. Many of the American and European {)ioneers who settled in

the bay region in Mexican times are likewise honored in place names:
John Gilroy, a Scotch sailor, who came in 1814 and was the first non-
Spanish settler; Robert Livermore, an Englishman who came in the
1820 's and settled in what is now Livermore Valley in 1839; Johann
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Augustus Sutter, a German Swiss, who was the first settler in the

interior valley in 1839 ; Joseph B. Chiles and William Wolfskill, Ken-

tuckians who received land grants in the early 1840 's; Elisha Stevens

of the famous immigrant party of 1844. Dr. John Marsh, a graduate

of Harvard, the pioneer of the Mount Diablo district, is remembered

in Mar.sh Creek; and W. A. Richardson, first harbor captain of San

Francisco, in Richardsons Bay. Several places in Marin County com-

memorate John Black, another Scotch sailor, who became a large

landholder in the 1840 's. Two other early Marin County pioneers,

John Reed and "Dutch Bill" Bihler, are remembered in the rail-

road station Reed and in Bihler Landing. Knights Landing was named

for William Knight of Indiana, who settled iiere in 1843; Kolmer

Creek and Coleman Valley in Sonoma County were named for a Ger-

man immigrant in 1846, the first permanent settler of the region.

Folsom [Sacramento] bears the name of Captain J. L. Folsom of

the New York Volunteers in the Mexican Wars.

Numerous also are the names which keep alive the memory of

pioneers in the formative period after the discovery of gold. The

name of James Lick, the Pennsylvania-German piano maker and

California benefactor is commemorated in Lick Observatory. The

mountain on which the observatory is situated was named in 1861 for

Rev. Laurentine Hamilton, who accompanied a party of the State

Geological Survey to the summit. One of the finest stands of redwood

in central California, Muir Woods, was named for John Muir, a

native of Scotland and pioneer naturalist of California. Millbrae

and Stanford, Niles and Hayward, Atherton and Daly City, Davis

and Dixon, Morgan Hill and Tracy, Guerneville and Healdsburg,

Bloomfield and Stinson Beach are among the better known places

commemorating later pioneers. Many other equally deserving men,

to be sure, are not found in the nomenclature of California geography.

These names of pioneers and early settlers reflect a part of our

history. They are outnumbered, however, by place names which show

the nature of the country, its flora, fauna, and natural resources. The

grizzly has disappeared completely from the California scene, and

the cinnamon bear is no longer found in the counties around San

Francisco Bay. Yet, all these counties still have their Bear Creeks

and Grizzly Peaks. The elk, the antelope, the beaver, the wolf, the

coyote, the rabbit, the coon and other representatives of our native

animal kingdom likewise live on in many districts only as place names.

The horse and the hcg, though not native in California, roamed the

country in late Mexican and early American times, descendants of

domesticated animals which had escaped from missions and ranches.

The Mexican word for hog, cache, is still found in place names in

San Mateo and Santa Clara Counties. Mare Island became known as

Isla de la Yegua when one of Vallejo 's mares found her way to the

island (probably from a capsized boat) and joined a band of elk

which lived there.

The most common place names originating from the native fauna
are those of the rattlesnake and the wildcat. The Spanish name of

the latter is preserved in Los Gatos. There are also many Deer and
Deerhorn place names, and occasionally the Spanish equivalent Ve-

nado is encountered. The seals along the coast have namesakes in a

number of Seal Rocks and Seal Coves, and the Spanish form of the

word seal is found in Point Lobos and Lobitos Creek. The abundance

of fish in the region is shown in a number of Pescaderos (fishing

places), and Salmon and Trout Creeks; and along the coast we find

the names Abalone and Mussel.

The name Alcatraz Island was originally applied to Yerba Buena
Island because of large numbers of pelicans nesting there. Later the

name was changed to Goat Island because the island was inhabited

by goats, descended from a few animals which a San Francisco mer-

chant had placed there. Codornices Creek [Alameda] was so named
because some hungry Mexicans found there the nest of a quail (co-

dorniz) and ate the eggs. Tiburon [Marin] is derived from Punta de

Tiburon, 'shark's point.' Raccoon Strait between Tiburon and Angel

Island, however, has nothing to do with the animal ; it was named for

the British ship Raccoon which anchored there in 1814. Even the

names of obnoxious insects—the mosquito, the tick, the flea—occur in

place names. Indeed, the Spanish word for flea, piilga, was a favorite

name for places and has survived in several instances.

Even more numerous are the names given for trees, shrubs, and
plants, again often no longer appropriate, but historically interest-

ing and significant. Of the native silva the willow, the pine, and the

oak are naturally represented most frequently in place names. The
Spanish forms of these names are still found: encinitas is the Span-

ish name for live oaks, and robles the one for deciduous oaks ; Sausa-

lito is Spanish for 'little grove of willows'; Point Reyes was once

known as Cabo de Finos, 'cape of the pines.' The site of Oakland was
known in Spanish times as Encinal del Temescal, 'oak grove by the

sweat-house.' The cottonwood (or poplar) is likewise found in both

the American and the Spanish versions. The southern part of present

Alameda County was known as la Alameda, 'place where poplars

grow,' as early as 1795. Alamo, for the tree itself, is still actively

used as a geographic name.

The proudest native tree of California along the coast, the

Sequoia sempervirens, is represented in nomenclature in a number
of Sequoia and Redwood names. The site of Redwood City was once

surrounded by a beautiful stand of sequoias, but here as in other

places the trees are gone and only the name remains. The city of

Palo Alto (high tree) received its name from a towering redwood
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first noticed by the Aiiza expedition in 1774. The madrone, the laurel,

the sycamore are other members of our silva which are sufficiently

conspicuous to have found their way into freon;raphical nomenclature.

Walnut Creek was not named because of the numerous walnut orchards

there; but it owes its name to the native black walnut, having been
known as Arroyo de los Nogalcs as early as 1810.

Among the native shrubs represented in nomenclature of the

bay counties the manzanita is the most popular. •This is because of

its natural beauty, its frequent occurrence, and its melodious name.
The shrub is appropriately called manzanita in Spanish (meaning
'little apple') because the fruit clusters actually look like miniature

apples. The Indian names of three native shrubs, islay (holly-leaved

cherry), chamise (greasewood), and toyon, are occasionally found
as place names in this district. Islais Creek in San Francisco is prob-

ably the best known. It was once a water course from Twin Peaks to

the bay lined with the islay shrub, and its name is now preserved in

the estuary and the bridge. On older maps a number of localities in

the bay district are called Chamisal, i.e., place where the chamise

and similar shrubs grow ; today we use the name Chajiarral, from the

Spanish chaparo, 'scrub oak,' to describe dense undergrowth.

Among plants with edible fruit the strawberry, here as else-

where, is the most popular for place names. The grape, sometimes in

its Spanish form, iiva, is a poor second. The twenty-seven native spe-

cies of the genus Allium account for a number of Onion, Leek, and
Garlic creeks, hills, and flats. Mount Chual [Santa Clara] preserves

the Indian name for the Chenopodiiim album, the common pigweed,

\alued by the natives as food.

We find reflected in the names of a country not only the stories

of its exploration and settlement, its flora and fauna, but also its

industrial development. The oldest name of this last group is Almaden
in Santa Clara County. In 1845 Andres Castillero identified the Al-

maden quicksilver deposits and was granted the right of exploiting

them. When the mine proved profitable the name New Almaden was
applied. Almaden is a Spanish word for 'mine' but was used as a

geographical term for the famous quicksilver mines in southeastern

Spain. In 1937 the California town dropjied the prefix "New."

Pittsburg, the industrial city at the confluence of the Sacra-

mento and the San Joaquin, is the only living witness of one of the

greatest mining booms in the San Francisco Bay region. When Robert

Semple, in February 1848, heard of the di.scovery of gold at Sut-

ter's mill he remarked dryly that he considered a good coal mine
more valuable than all the gold mines. L'ntil the wholesale exploita-

tion of our oil resources the discovery of coal beds was foremost in

the minds of mining engineers and industrialists. There were at least

four heavily financed coal booms in the State before 1890—booms which

always collapsed because the coal proved to be inferior. The oldest

of these was the Mount Diablo coal boom. In 1852 coal was discovered

in the hills which form the northernmost end of the Mount Diablo

Range, but their connncrcial exi)loitation did not start until 1858.

The Pittsburg Coal Company, one of the leading organizations, had
a railroad built from their mines in the hills, terminating where
today is Pittsburg Landing. With the collapse of the boom Pittsburg
remained as a geographical name until the steel Industry after 1900
brought new life into the district and renamed old New York of the

Pacific, Pittsburg, and the old Pittsburg, Pittsburg Landing. Somers-
ville, Nortonville, and Stewartville, ghost towns on the road from
Antioch to Clayton, were named for men who were interested in the

largest of the mines, the Black Diamond. A fateful explosion in this

mine on July 24, 1876, marked dramatically the end of the venture.

Numerous are the names which tell of the existence of mineral
springs. The healing qualities of many of them had been recognized

by the natives although no Indian names for them are known. In
Spanish times quite a number of the springs were designated as Agua
Caliente, 'hot water,' and some of these names have been carried

over into American times. Most of these sjjrings were not developed
until the 1850 's and 1860 's. The majority bear the name of the owner
or discoverer ; others are simply called Hot Springs or Warm Springs,

Mineral, Soda or Sulphur Springs. Aetna Springs in Napa County
were so named because they were discovered while the owner was
prospecting for quicksilver in his Aetna mine, which in turn had
doubtless been named after Mount Aetna. Saratoga in Santa Clara
County was named, in 1876, because the waters of, Pacific Congress
Springs resemble those of Congress Springs at Saratoga in New
York. The name Calistoga [Napa] was coined in 1859 by Sam Bran-
nan from Cahfornia and 8a.Ta.to<ja.

Salada Beach [San Mateo] and a number of combinations with
salt and saline refer to salt deposits or at least to the salty taste of

the water of stream and lakes. The Calera names in San Mateo and
Santa Clara Counties, and several Lime, Limestone, and Limekiln
names indicate that mining and burning of limestone was once an
important industry. Other names, such as Slate, Rock, Sandstone,
and Piedra, refer to rock quarries. Freestone [Sonoma] was named
in 1870 for a quarry of easily worked sandstone. Several names con-

taining the word adobe indicate the composition of the soil or the

presence of an adobe building.

A number of combinations with Mill, and at least one Molino

[Soi.oma] (the Spanish word for 'mill') indicate the presence or

former presence of a stamj), grist, or lumber mill. Mill Valley is prob-

ably the best known of these places. John Reed, grantee of rancho

Corte Madera, operated a saw mill there as early as 1834 and sup-
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FlG. 1. Plnno topoKrafico do la Mision de San Jose, This iiiaii, made about 1824, shows many of the jilace names still in use tochiy : San Rafael, Sonoma. Solano,

Cnrquinez, Suisnn, Sacramento, San .loaquin, Cosumnes, Mokelumne, Santa Clara, Sun .Tose, Snn Lorenzo, ete. The lower part of the Imy is called Kstero de i^ta Clam.

and M. del Dinhln is the name of an Ineiiau village near Suisnn Bay. I'hnto rnurteaij Unnrroft Lihinty, Univemitii of ('dlifornia.
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plied most of the lumber with which the early houses of San Fran-
cisco were built. Corte Madera means 'place where lumber is cut,'

and is found a.s a place name not only in Marin but also in San Mateo
and Santa Clara Counties.

A number of places in Contra Costa County reflect the modern
industrial development of this county. Associated was named in 1913

when the Tidewater Associated Oil Company built the town, and
Oleum was clipped from PeiToIeum when the Union Oil Company
built the refinery before 1912. The powder industry is represented by
Hercules, Herpoco (from Hercules Powder Company), and Giant;

the last is reminiscent of the early name of dynamite, giant powder.

Moeoco was coined from Mountain Copper Company which had a

smelter at Bulls Head Point. Hastings Creek was named for the man
who discovered quicksilver on the east side of Mount Diablo.

Often place names owe their origin to an incident. Among these

are a number of points along the coast which were named for ship-

wrecks. Duxbury Reef and Point, west of Bolinas, were named because

the Duxbury grounded on the reef on August 21, 1849. Just south

of it the wreck of the steamer Tennessee in 1853 gave the names to

the point, cove, and valley. Pigeon Point [San Mateo] owes its origin

to the wreck of the clipper ship Carrier Pigeon, May 6, 1853. On
Noonday Rock, one of the Farallones, a clipper by that name ran

upon a submarine rock and sank within an hour on January 2, 1863.

Southampton Bay, however, was so named because the U.S.S.

Southampton led the fleet to anchorage at Benicia in the spring

of 1849.

Sebastapol was named shortly after the siege of the Russian
seaport of Sebastapol in the Crimean War of 1854. According to

local tradition there was actually a local fight, and the general store

became the Sebastapol of one party. Chickahominy Slough [Yolo]

is said to have been named because two ranchers had a fight there at

the time the battle of Chickahominy in Virginia was fought, June 27,

1862. A third battle is commemorated in Waterloo [San Joaquin],

where there was a fight over a land title in the early 1860 's. Cache
Creek [Yolo] wa.s named sometime before 1832 because Hudson's
Bay Company trappers had a cache or hiding place for their furs on
its banks. The name of American River was derived by Sutter from
El Paso de los Americaiios, a ford in the river where Canadian trap-

pers, called Americanos by the Spanish-speaking Indians, crossed the

stream. Patterson Pass [Alameda] is said to have received its name
in the 1850 's when Andrew Jackson Patterson and his wife were
driving over the pass in a heavy wind storm which upset his wagon,
severely injuring Mrs, Patterson. Austrian Gulch [Santa Clara] is

reminiscent of another tragedy. In 1889 a cloudburst undermined a

large winery operated by Austrians and swept thousands of gallons

of wine into Los Gatos Creek.

Every country has a number of names which were deliberately

coined and which defy all interpretations unless their origin is

known. The siding Subeet [Solano], located in a sugar-beet region,

took its name from sugar beet. Yolano [Solano] was coined from
Tolo and Solano, and Saranap [Contra Costa] from the name of Mrs.
Sara A'ophthaly. Calistoga, Herpoco, and Moeoco have already been
mentioned, and other puzzling names like Colma [San Mateo] and
Orinda [Contra Costa] may be of similar origin.

The number of names in the San Francisco Bay region the origin

of which may forever be shrouded in mystery is relatively small.

Gualala and a number of Indian names have already been mentioned.
Only two of the important names cannot be satisfactorily explained

:

Marin County and Mount Saint Helena.

The county was named after the Marin Lslands off San Rafael.

These islands in turn were named for an Indian chief called Marin,
who according to Vallejo lived on one of the islands. In view of the

lack of conclusive evidence of this tradition another theory seems
just as plausible. The bay in which the two islands lie was called

Bahia de Nuestra Senora del Rosario la Marinera in 1775, for the

patron saint of the San Carlos, the first boat to enter San Francisco
Bay. It is quite possible that the name of the islands, of the Indian,

and finally of the county go back to the Virgin 's by-name, Marinera.

As usual in such doubtful cases there are a number of other theories

about the origin of the name.

Mount Saint Helena was ascended by Ru.ssians in June, 1841,

and, according to the story current in the 1860 's, was named in honor
of the Russian empress by the Russian scientist J. G. Woznesenski.
When it was shown that the name of the empress in 1841 was Alex-

andra the story was changed to read that a princess, Ilelena'de Ga-
garin, climbed the mountain and christened it in honor of her patron
saint, the mother of Constantin the Great. No evidence has ever been
produced to prove these stories. If the Russians (whose occupation of

the region from 1812 to 1841 is still remembered in the names Rus-
sian River and Fort Ross) named the mountain at all, they probably
did it from one of their vessels which bore the name Saint Helena.

A brief survey of the geographical nomenclature of as large an
area as that of the twelve bay counties can naturally treat only such

names as are of importance or of particular interest. It cannot

even include all classes of names. There are the many transfer names
from other .states of the United States and other parts of the world

:

Albany, Menlo Park, Baden Station, Inverness, Brighton, Dublin,

Fairfield, Antioch, Brentwood, Richmond, and hundreds of others.

Many names of our military leaders are found in geography : Stock-

ton, Fremont, Hooker, Halleck, Ord, Barry, Cronkhite, Funston,
Baker, Winfield Scott. Some places were named for well-known
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historical characters: Berkeley, Lafayette, Copernicus Peak, Tesla,

Marconi ; others honor men who rendered public services : VoUmer

Peak, Keiitfiekl, Ilecker Pass, Tilden Park, McLaren Park, Reinhardt

Meadows, Mount Davidson, Stanford. Still otliers are purely descrip-

tive : Twin Peaks, Saddleback, Ilalfnioon Bay, Rocky Ridge.

There are, finally, tliose names which were clioseu because of

their sound or their design to be attractive and impressive. In this

ela.ss belong all such international names as Piedmont, Glorietta,

Montecello, Belvedere, Marina. Belmont, as well as names like Mount

Eden, Paradise Valley, and Newhope Landing, and even names con-

taining the word devil or diablo. The greatest of such names given

with the purpose of attracting and impressing is the name of the

entrance to San Francisco Bay : Golden Gate. Fremont bestowed

this name in 1846 in analogy to Golden Horn in Europe. He believed

that the Golden Gate would play in the future a similar role for com-

merce as the strait between Europe and Asia Minor had played for

centuries past. He did not foresee that only two years later the dis-

covery of gold would give it new significance and importance and
prove the name-giver to be a true prophet.

Vir,. LV Siiiiiihit nf Mi.unT St. Il.l.ini. \ir\\ ....ui h.Msi :iiMi .l.'w n\\ ,ii;l ii.>]i( Si i!,- lii\ision of Forestry fire

liKikout tower. In Ihf ot'iitcr of tlu- feuceil plot is the prL'riscl.\' locutt'tl tri;iiiKiil:it mn iiiotuKiHiit which marks the corner
coininoii to Xapii. Sonoma, and I-ako Counties, as well as the summit of tlie mountain. Two monuments and their

tablets, in the ri;:ht foreirroninl commemorate the 100th anniversar.v of the founding of Kort Ross and the .Tune, 1S41,

ascent of the mountain h.v the Uussians AVosnesenski and Tsehernec. Other surveyiuK monuments and weather-record-

ing installations ma.v lie seen near the middle of the picture. Photo by Otaf ]'. Jenkins.



INDIANS OF THE SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA
By Robicrt F. Hkizkr •

Aborifrinal California was rcniarkabio for tlic number and diver-

sity of its Indian tribes, and the Sau Franeiseo Bay region was no

exeeption. The bay eonstituted a natural boundary, and no less than

four Iiulian nations elainied portions of its shore. The Porno held the

bull; of Sonoma County and the territory to the north. The Coast

Miwok oeeupied southern Sonoma County and Marin C'onnty. The
Napa Valley re<i-ion was the heart of Wappo territory, and to the east

as far as the Saeramento Kiver the southern Wintun (sometimes

called I'atwin) held sway. The San Franeiseo peninsula, western
Contra Costa County, and Alameda and Santa Clara Counties were
the home of the Costanoan tribes. To the east, in eastern Contra
Costa and southern San Joa(|uin Counties, was the home of the

northerly Yokuts tribes. North along the east bank of the Saeramento
Kiver in northern Sau Joaciuin and Saeramento Counties were the

viliajres of the Interior Miwok, tribes usiufi- the same speeeh but de-

taehed pcojirapliieally from their coastal relatives of Marin County.
The northern portion of Sacramento County marked the southernmost
territory of the Maidu tribe. Thus, no less than ei<>:ht important tribes,

at the time of Spanish settlement in the late eighteenth century, oceu-

]iied the twelve counties which constitute the Sau Francisco Bay
re<rion. Members of the above-named tribes furnished neophytes for

the several Spanish missions at San Rafael, Sonoma, San Francisco,

Santa Clara, and San Jose.

In one important respect, topography and terrain as delimiting

political boundaries were viewed somewhat differently by the Cali-

fornia Indians than bv ourselves. The Indian did not think, like a

modern and literate person of today, of his people owning an area

enclosed by a sharply drawn line within whose compass were so many
mountain ranges and watercourses. This would have been viewing
the land through a map, either actual or mental, and such maps were
foreign to the natives' psychology. Tribal habitats were defined by
drainage blocks. The primitive Indian knew that he had been born,

and would probably die, in a village situated on a certain stream;
and that this .stream, or a portion of it, and all the creeks flowing into

it, and all the land on or between those creeks, belonged to his people.

Upstream and downstream or across certain hills were other streams
and their affluents, along which other people lived with proprietary

rights to their drainage area. As a result of this interpretation of

surface topography, aboriginal boundaries generally ran alon" the

• Associate Professor of Anthropology, Associate Curator of North American
Archaeologj- in the Museum of Anthropology. Director of the Archaeological Survey
University of California.

crests of hills which marked watersheds, and not, as among our-
selves, down the center of streams. Thus, the apparent inconsistency
between the present county boundaries ami tribal lines (fig. 1) re-
flects alternative interpretations and utilization of environmental
features. Even the Sacramento River was no exception, for the tribe
which held one bank al.so claimed the ojiposite shore. For large bodies
of water such as San Francisco Bay, different tribes held opposite
shores.

Those tribes which lived near salt-water bodies (either the ocean
or bay) placed heavy dependence upon sea products for food. Thus,
their former village sites are marked by accnnuilations of mussel and
clam shells, some of very large size. In Emeryville, on the site of the
present Sherwin-Williams Paint Company plant, was an extensive
shellmound measuring 1,000 feet in length, 300 feet in width, and 22
feet above the surrounding plain. The volume of this accumulation
of shell, earth, ash, stone, implements, and burials was computed at
39,000 cubic meters. The total weight of the accumulation was 55,885
short tons, of which about 60 percent was shell and 8 percent ash.
North along the east .shore of the bay, at Ellis Landing in Richmond,
was situated another shellmound with a content of 35,649 cubic
meters, or about 51,085 short tons. Specific gravity of the refuse
material of the shellmound was 1.3. These huge mounds of refuse
left by the former occupants of the bay area have been subjected to
careful quantitative and qualitative anal.vsis in an attempt to esti-

mate their antiquity. The average composition of 15 shellmounds
around San Francisco Bay is: fishbone, 0.031 percent; other verte-
brate remains, 0.055 percent ; shell, 52.07 percent ; charcoal, 0.22 per-
cent; ash, 12.27 percent; rock, 7.5 percent; residue, 27.84 percent.
The consensus is that the earliest occupation of these spots may have
been about 3,500 years ago.

The interior tribes, whose cultures were developed around the
exploitation of the Coast Ranges and Interior Valley environments,
placed chief reliance upon elk, deer, and acorns for food ; the .shell-

fish used were limited to freshwater species (Gonidca, Margaritifera).
Former village sites are marked by mounds of earth consisting of ash,
broken stone, discarded bones of animals eaten for food, and the like.

These mounds are great refu.se heaps, ranging from eminences a few
feet in diameter to earth domes several hundred feet in diameter and
many feet thick, upon which the former inhabitants lived, and in
which they interred their dead. Several of the more prominent Valley
mounds contain about 50,000 cubic meters of material.

(39)
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Fio. 1. Map showing distrilmtion of Indian tril)es in area of the 12 counties

of the San Francisco Bay region.

The first physical and cultural remains of which there is any
record in the bay area are those of the "Early Horizon," whose
estimated antiquity is about 5,000 years. This first culture is known
from a limited scries of burial spots enclosed in the great bend of the

Mokelumne River between Thornton and Walnut Grove in San Joa-

quin County, but has thus far not been discovered on the ocean coast

or on the shores of San Francisco Bay. The skeletal remains are so

heavily mineralized as to almost deserve the term "fossilized." Fol-

lowing the Early period, a new culture called the "Middle Horizon"

appears whose estimated dates are 1500 B.C. to 500 A.D. This Ls suc-

ceeded by a Late Horizon, in which a new people created different

implement forms and utilized distinctive techniques of working raw
materials in the production of these forms.

In order to give some objective indication of the utilization of

primitive resources by the primitive peoples of the bay area,

Sequence of ahoriginal cultures

Date * San Francisco Bay and Interior Valley and adjacent
adjacent coast Sierra foothills

1770 A.D. Costanoan tribe Maidu. Wintun, Miwok tribes

500 A.D. Late Horizon Late Horizon
ir>(K) B.C. Middle Horizon Middle Horizon
2.")<X) B.C. (Unoccupied?) Early Horizon

* Dates are approximations based od available evidence.

representative artifacts from prehistoric village and burial sites

are here discussed and illustrated. The discussion below is developed

primarily around the rocks and minerals used, and the industrial

or technological methods employed in fashioning them into serviceable

implements for household, military, or economic functions.

Literally hundreds of different rocks and minerals were utilized

for special purposes by the prehistoric Indians. Obsidian (black vol-

canic glass) was especially favored as a material for making arrow-

points, because the natural glass could be easily flaked. Outcrops of

massive obsidian occur near Anadel about 7 miles southeast of Santa

Rosa, Sonoma County; around Clear Lake, Lake County (fig. 3a,b)
;

and at Glass Mountain on the east side of Napa River near St. Helena

in Napa County (fig. 3c,d). Here large areas covered with chips,

flakes, and rejected implements give evidence of extensive exploitation

of the obsidian outcrops. Throughout the whole bay area obsidian

was secured in trade from the Napa and Sonoma quarries in the form

of flat flakes or "blanks" (fig. 4a-f/). Aboriginal obsidian quarrying

technique is shown in figure 4e. Examples of obsidian chipped imple-

ments are shown in figure 4/-i and figure 5.

Steatite or soapstone did not, so far as is known, occur in the

bay area, but was imported from the Coast Ranges to the north and

the Sierra Nevada to the east in considerable quantity. It was chiefly

er'iloyed in the manufacture of tubular .smoking pipes, spool-shaped

earplugs, beads, and ornaments (fig. 6). In the vicinity of Stockton,

cylindrical jars of steatite were manufactured (fig. 14A'). Globular,

thin-walled cooking pots, which could be placed directly on a fire,

were made farther south in the Santa Barbara region. Figure 7o

shows two natives working steatite : the man with a hafted pick

working a blank vessel from the outcrop, and the woman hollowing

out the interior of the soft stone with a heavy chipped chisel-pick.

Various tribes scraped steatite with a sharp-edged flint flake and

used the dust thus produced as talcum powder. Two such scraped

lumps of milk-colored steatite from the Sacramento Valley are shown

in figures lld-e. Flat pieces of sandstone ranging from sizable slabs

to small slender bars were much used for grinding, abrading, and pol-

ishing of circular discs of clam shell which were the common currency

of the central California Indians (fig. 7c). These were ground on a

sandstone slab in the manner shown in figure 7b and drilled with a

pump drill (fig. If). Shown in figure 146 is a flat sandstone slab with
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h, Smnll sbellmound near China Camp. Marin County.

c, Mound near Stockton.
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d, Site Son-299, west shore of Bodeca Bay (site is under light-colored

vegetation in center to left of tents)

.

FiCi. 2. Archeolnjrical sites.
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a, fc, The olisi(li;in qiinrry nt liornx Lake, near Clear Lake Highlands, Lake County.

c, (7, Obsidian iiodulfs in pnniicr mixed with Indian workshop flakes "hear St. Helena, Napa County.

Fio. 3
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p.ieely squared sides and a rectaiiirular central depression. The entire

surface is encrusted with hematite, and from this it may be inferred

that the slab was a palette used for grinding red paint. The flat, fine-

grained, decorated sandstone pieces shown in figure 8 come from Napa
Valley, and probably represent highly conventionalized human fig-

ures. They may portray infants tied in cradles with straps.

Although pottery vessels were neither made nor used, clay was
modelled and fired in lumps or balls of various sizes. This rudimentary

tired-clay industry was practiced in the delta region east of Car-

quinez Straits, where .stone was absent from the alluvial-plain soils.

The clay balls served as substitutes for rocks in the "stone boiling"

process where mush was boiled in watertight baskets by dropping in

rocks heated in an open fire. Figure 9a,cl-f shows typical "ball" forms

employed in stone boiling. Tubular pipes (fig. Ih) in which a species

of wild tobacco {Nicotiana bigelovii) was smoked, and spool-shaped

net-sinkers (fig. 96-c), were made of baked clay.

Magnesite was quarried by the Indians in Napa and Lake Coun-

ties, and was fashioned into barrel-shaped beads which were consid-

ered very valuable. The aborigines baked the milky white chunks

or finished beads of raw magnesite in the ashes of a fire to tura them
salmon pink (fig. 7</).

Clear quartz crystals were eagerly- sought and saved. From testi-

mony recorded from recent Indians, it is known that such crystals

were endowed with magical or supernatural power, and were so

charged with this quality that only medicine men could safely handle

and control them. Crystals were generally employed in curing illness.

Figure 7d,i,j, and figure 12d illustrate quartz crystals whose sharp

edges have, through some abrading process, been ground down. The
terminus of one is decorated with shell beads affixed in an asphaltum
mastic. It is probable that the famed Mokelumne Hill deposits were
the source of these crystals.

All of the California Indians daubed their faces and bodies with

colored mineral paints upon certain occasions—for ceremonial per-

formances, while in mourning for a deceased relative, when engaged
in war, and the like. Red color was most widely used, and hematite

and cinnabar were mined and traded for long distances from tribe

to tribe. One source was a deposit on the east side of Mount Diablo,

but the main locality was the New Almaden mine near San Jose. In

1845, when a shaft was sunk and white men first began mining, there

was discovered an ancient tunnel some 50 or 60 feet in length at whose

face, covered with caved roof material, were several Indian skeletons

and rude stone mining tools. Cinnabar lumps and powder have been

recovered from prehistoric Indian graves in Contra Costa County,

and it is reliably attested that as early as 1800 some of the Columbia
River tribes, among them the Walla Walla, knew of the New Almaden

deposit and made the long journey to secure this valuable and bril-

liant pigment. Hematite (ferric oxide) occurs commonly in nature,

and few archaeological sites fail to produce chunks of this red min-

eral. Figure 11a, fe illustrates two lumps of native hematite with

ground surfaces from which powder has been rubbed or filed off, per-

haps with a sandstone file such as that shown in figure le. Limonite
(ferric hydroxide), a yellow mineral, and various white minerals such

as diatomaceous earth, were used as body paint.

Everywhere in the bay area except on the sea-level plain of the

Sacramento-San Joaquin delta region where stone is absent, pebbles

were picked up in stream beds or from gravel exposures, carried home
to the village, and put to various uses. They were employed as hammer-
stones for striking oflf percussion flakes in the manufacture of chipped

implements (fig. 17e), as longitudinally grooved net sinkers (fig.

llg,h), and as miniature mortars for grinding paint minerals or

tobacco (fig. 111). Concretions and odd-shaped rocks resulting from
differential weathering (fig. 12g-k) were used as "charmstones" at

religious functions.

Various micas, which occur in nature in the form of flat plates,

were known and used by the Indians. Ancient village sites on the

shores of San Francisco Bay and the Marin County coast produce
graves in which are quantities of clear muscovite plates with holes

drilled through them for suspension (fig. 12c,/). Dark lustrous green

biotite plates (fig. 12e) were used in the central valley area as pend-

ants, the source of this mineral probably being the Sierra Nevada
immediately to the east.

Asphaltum, which can be secured from tar seeps, is an excellent

adhesive and mastic. It was much used by the Indians of the San Fran-
cisco Bay region, though the exact location of the source of this sub-

stance remains unknown. Three examples of the use of a.sphaltum

adhesive are shown in figure 12a,b,d. These represent, respectively, a

charm.stone or fishing sinker which still shows the cord impressions,

a flat polished steatite ornament with Otivella shell disc beads im-

bedded in the mastic, and a quartz crystal whose ba.se is similarly

decorated. All three pieces are from San Francisco Bay shellmounds.

A class of prehistoric implement whose use may only be conjec-

tured comprises the beautifully made charmstones shown in figure 13.

Recent Indians profess great reluctance to touch them, and say that

only medicine men (i.e. doctors) have sufficient power to handle them
with safety. The Indian doctors profess to be able, by manipulating
charmstones, to cure the sick, extinguish forest fires, secure hunting
and fishing luck, bring rain, and the like. The charmstone of the

Early culture period was almost invariably drilled, and a cord was
probably passed through the hole so that the stone could be suspended.

Most examples from the later civilizations (Middle and Ijate Hori-

zons) are not drilled. In nearly every instance some attractive rock
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Fio. 4. Obsidian (innirying and ehippinK, after life Kroup in IJ. S. National Museum, and obsidian artifacts (sliRhtly less than natural size).
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